1988

J. Desmond Bess and Kristine Bess v. Ronald L. Jensen and Patricia Jensen : Brief of Appellants

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

This appeal concerns a Lease/Option Agreement which was prepared in the form of two documents, although each referred to the other and were intended by the parties to be one consolidated agreement. Respondents-Defendants became in default of the lease portion of the agreement, and the Trial Court thereby terminated the same, but did not terminate the option part of the agreement. The issue now before the court is whether termination of the lease portion of the Lease/Option Agreement by the Trial Court for breach thereof by the Respondents-Defendants does, by operation of law, also terminate the option portion of the

agreement.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 20, 1985, Appellants-Plaintiffs entered into a lease/option agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and incorporated herein by reference, with the Respondents-Defendants for the purpose of leasing certain real property located at R.D. #1, Box 329-A, Provo, Utah, and more fully described as:

PARCEL 1: Commencing 25.39 chains North and 7.63 chains West of the Southeast corner of the Southwest quarter of Section 34, Township 6 South, Range 2 East, Salt Lake Base and Meridian; thence South 102.8 feet; thence East 168.77 feet; thence North 30°20' West 38.74 feet; thence East 429 feet to the West line of the road; thence North 39° 35' West 90 feet along said road; thence West 534 feet to the place of beginning.

PARCEL 2: Commencing 25.39 chains North and 7.63 chains West and South 102.8 feet of the Southeast corner of the Southwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 6 South, Range 2 East, Salt Lake Base and Meridian; thence East 168.77 feet; thence south 30° 20' East 488.02 feet; thence West 430.6 feet; thence North 421.20 feet to the place of beginning.

Together with 1/2 share of Lake Bottom Irrigation Water.

The agreement gave Respondents-Defendants the opportunity to purchase the subject real property upon the conditions stated therein, including the exercise of the six option periods and payment of an additional \$3,000.00 at the exercise of the final option. The agreement provided

The agreement gave Respondents-Defendants the opportunity to purchase the subject real property upon the conditions stated therein, including the exercise of the six option periods and payment of an additional \$3,000.00 at the exercise of the final option. The agreement provided that the monthly rental of \$462.47 was payable on the first day of each month and would be delinquent ten days after the first day of each month. Beginning with the second installment payment due May 1, 1985, Respondents-Defendants on several occasions thereafter were late in their payments and/or issued checks as payments which were subsequently dishonored and returned due to insufficient funds. Of the twenty-seven payments actually made, one-fourth (that is, 6 of the payments) were made with checks that were returned because they were drawn on an account with insufficient funds. Furthermore, five of the last ten checks were made beyond the grace period. Such actions by Respondents-Defendants caused certain of Appellants-Plaintiffs' own checks to be returned for insufficient funds due to Plaintiffs-Appellants' reliance thereon. Additionally, the checks issued by Respondents-Defendants were put directly by Respondents-Defendants into an escrow account at Universal Campus Federal Credit Union (hereafter "Bank") in Provo, Utah, for the purpose of applying the same to the first

mortgage on the subject real property. Due to the problems with Respondents-Defendants' payments as set forth above, the Bank gave Appellants-Plaintiffs notice that payments by check from the Jensens' would no longer be accepted. A copy of said notice is attached hereto as Exhibit "B" and incorporated herein by reference. Also, because of the continual problems with Respondents-Defendants in writing checks with insufficient funds or making late payments, Appellants-Plaintiffs, by and through their attorney, Orson B. West, Jr. wrote a letter to the Respondents-Defendants demanding that they begin living up to the terms of the Agreement, or the Agreement would be terminated. A copy of said letter is attached hereto as Exhibit "C" and incorporated herein by reference. Respondents-Defendants continued to fail to live up to the agreement and the Bank refused to accept Respondents-Defendants' check for May, 1987 as an improper tender of rent. Because Respondents-Defendants failed to make a proper tender of the May, 1987 rent, Appellants-Plaintiffs were forced to file a notice to pay or vacate. Said notice was ignored by Respondents-Defendants, which resulted in the commencement of this action.

Respondents-Defendants further breached the Lease Option Agreement by encumbering the subject property prior to any exercise of the option with judgments and liens in

the amount of at least \$11,962.95. Such encumbrances have damaged Appellants-Plaintiff's interest in the subject property. Respondents-Defendants, pursuant to the agreement terms, cannot exercise the option until all encumbrances have been fully paid, including the back rents.

The trial court found that the Defendants-Respondents were in breach of the Lease Option Agreement, and the court accordingly terminated the lease portion of the agreement. The trial court, however, allowed the option portion to stand contingent upon Defendants-Respondents exercising the final option payment and payment of the rents accrued from May, 1987 through the present in the amount of \$462.47 per month, together with interest thereon at 10% per annum.

Respondents-Defendants have paid approximately \$5,500.00 to the trial court's escrow account, which is being held in lieu of a supersedeas bond while the matter is on appeal. Respondents-Defendants have paid an additional amount of \$2,500.00 directly to Appellants-Plaintiffs, which amount has been applied by Appellants-Plaintiffs towards back rent. Respondents-Defendants were further been ordered to continue making rent payments of \$462.47 per month during the pendency of this action pursuant to a hearing held before the Honorable George E. Ballif on June 3, 1988, a

copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "D" and incorporated herein by reference but Respondents-Defendants have failed to make the payments as ordered.

Appellants-Plaintiffs remain ready and willing to return whatever option payments the Respondents-Defendants may be entitled to, if any, should the court so order upon the termination of the option portion of the agreement and restitution of the premises to Appellants-Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs-Appellants have offered to return said option moneys on several occasions in exchange for the restitution of the subject property, but Respondents-Defendants have refused to work out such an equitable result.

The Lease Option Agreement further provides that upon default of the agreement, the lessor may re-enter the premises, thus terminating lessee's rights thereunder. The agreement further provides that lessee shall pay lessor attorney fees and costs for such breach of the agreement by lessee. Despite the language in the contract which provides for upon default by Respondents-Defendants, the Trial Court upheld the option portion of the agreement contrary to the specific interest and terms of the contract as stated therein.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The facts presented at the initial trial show that

the Lease Option Agreement as intended by the parties to be a single undivided agreement although prepared as two separate documents. The facts also show that Defendants-Respondents were in breach of the lease portion of the agreement, and accordingly, the court terminated the lease portion of the agreement. According to the laws set forth below and the terms of the agreement itself, a termination of the lease portion by operation of law must also result in termination of the option portion of the agreement. Therefore, where the Trial Court ruled to terminate the lease, the subject premises should also have been restored to Plaintiff with a forfeiture of the entire agreement.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT PLAINTIFF WAS ENTITLED TO COMMON LAW EJECTMENT OF DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS FROM THE SUBJECT PREMISES, THEREBY TERMINATING THE LEASE PORTION OF THE AGREEMENT, AND SHOULD THEREBY HAVE ALSO TERMINATED THE OPTION PORTION OF THE AGREEMENT.

The Lease Option Agreement at issue before the court was prepared as two separate documents which were both dated March 20, 1985. See Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. The Supreme Court of Utah has ruled that where two documents are prepared separately, they may still be considered as a single agreement. In

other words, an agreement may be a single contract even though it consists of several writings that the parties have never physically attached to each other. Sacramento Baseball Club, Inc. v. Great Northern Baseball Company, 73 Utah Advanced Reports 10, 11. See also 17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts §266, at 672 (1964). In Sacramento Baseball, the court considered a situation where the parties used two documents for the transaction relating to the purchase of a baseball club. One document was an agreement for the sale of the franchise, and the other was a consultation agreement. \$100,000.00 was to be paid as consideration for the sales agreement, and \$88,000.00 for the consultation agreement. Plaintiff argued that although the two written documents existed, the parties actually entered a single contract. The Supreme Court examined the parties' written agreements and the circumstances surrounding the drafting of the agreements, and determined that the parties' intended one contract. The court stated, as a rule of law, that an agreement may be a single contract, even though it consists of several writings that the parties have never physically attached to each other. In Sacramento Baseball, the Court cited Land Reclamation, Inc. v. Riverside Corp., 261 Or. 180, 184, 492 P.2d 263, 265 (1972), "No rule of law...precludes the parties from using two written instruments rather

than one to effectually carry out their agreement." The court concluded that the two agreements were executed with the purpose of effecting the sale of the baseball franchise and the parties really only reached one agreement and formed only one contract that was reflected in two separate documents. Accordingly, the court held that the contract as a whole was enforceable, so the consultation agreement as a part of the contract was also enforceable. Similarly, in the present case, the parties entered into the agreement on the same date, each agreement referred to the other agreement, and the parties intended that although two documents were prepared, the two documents formed only one contract. In accordance therewith, where the two documents were one agreement and where a portion of the agreement was terminated, and properly so, by the trial court, the whole agreement should have been terminated. See also Bledsoe v. Hill, 747 P.2d 10 (Colo. App. 1987), where the court held that "If a simultaneously executed agreement between the same parties, relating to the same subject matter, is contained in more than one instrument, the documents must be construed together to determine the intent as though the entire agreement were contained in a single document. Although it is desirable for the documents to refer to each other, there is no requirement that they do so. Accordingly, the two documents

must be read together, and therefore, must be terminated as a whole agreement. This result is necessarily compelling because the very terms of the agreement provide that a default of the lessee (Respondents-Defendants) terminates the contract, giving the lessor (Appellants-Plaintiffs) the right of possession. Neither equity nor common sense would suppose that Respondents-Defendants' breaches in continual late payments and nonpayment of rent, thereby giving Appellants-Plaintiffs the right to possession would allow the Respondents-Defendants the opportunity to keep the possessory interest of the property in limbo while said party was making up their minds whether to exercise the remaining options. This was not the intent of the parties, nor did the contract provide for such. The contract simply and straight-forward provided that if lessee defaults, the possessory interest returns to Appellants-Respondents.

In Russell v. Park City Utah Corporation, 548 P.2d 889 (Utah 1976), the Supreme Court of Utah considered a factual situation and issues almost identical to those presently before the court. In Russell, Plaintiffs terminated the rights of the Defendant under a Lease Option Agreement because the Defendant failed to make the rent payments timely. On March 11, 1971, Plaintiff sent a letter pursuant

to the provisions of the lease agreement that the agreement would be declared terminated should the Defendant fail to pay rent by April 26, 1971. The Defendant did not meet the demand timely, but tendered payment on June 7, 1971, which the Plaintiffs refused. The Supreme Court found that the payment was not made timely and that Plaintiffs were justified in refusing the tender and terminating the lease. Russell at 891. The court, in Russell, also considered the option portion of the agreement, or right of first refusal, wherein Defendant had paid \$2,000.00 consideration for the option. In Russell, the Defendant argued that the option to purchase covenant was a severable contract, supported by separate consideration, and existed independently of the other provisions of the lease for the entire ten-year term of the lease. The Plaintiff, on the other hand, contended that the option was an integral part of the total composite of the lease, and when the lease was forfeited and terminated, the covenant fell with it. The trial court, which was affirmed by the Supreme Court, found in accordance with the Plaintiff on the grounds that the two portions of the agreement were integral to each other and intended as such by the parties, such that forfeiture of the lease would also terminate the option or first right of refusal. Russell at 892. This was so despite the fact that \$2,000.00 consideration had been

paid for the option and right of first refusal.