1988

J. Desmond Bess and Kristine Bess v. Ronald L. Jensen and Patricia Jensen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to Section 78-2(a)-3 of the Utah Code Annotated, (1953, as amended) and pursuant to Rule 3 of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a judgment entered in the Fourth District Court on April 6, 1988, by Judge Ballif. The appeal addresses only that part of the judgment rendered by Judge Ballif involving the non termination of a Lease Option Agreement.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The appeal before this Court concerns a Option agreement created by the parties along with a lease agreement on the same property. The Lease and the Option Contract are distinct and separate agreements containing separate consideration and restrictions. Judge Ballif found the Jensen's in default of the lease, and thereby terminated the agreement. However, Judge Ballif did not terminate the Option finding it still viable inasmuch as the Jensen's had maintained their part of the Option Contract. The issue raised by Petitioner questions whether Judge Ballif's factual decision regarding the termination of the Lease independent of the Option Contract creates an error of law.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTE

Petitioner references Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, Section 78-36-1. Respondent contends that this statute's applicability is limited, in its determinative nature, to the termination of the Lease and has no determinative effect on the option. Utah case law on contract interpretation and enforceability, as well as doctrines of equity and good conscience, will determine the status of the Option Contract before this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Jensen's entered into a three year lease agreement (dated March 20, 1985) for real property located at R.D. #1, Box

329-A, Provo, Utah¹. (Addendum "A".) The Jensen's entered into an Option Contract (dated April 1, 1985) whereby for a sum of \$2,500 the Jensen's had the exclusive right and privilege of purchasing the real property located at R.D. #1, Box 329-A, Provo, Utah for a period of six months. (Addendum "B", paragraph 3.) This option was renewable for a potential of five additional six month periods provided \$2,500 was paid for each period prior to the expiration of the previous period. (Addendum "B", paragraph 3.)

Both agreements are supported by individual covenants and separate consideration. (See generally Addenda "A" and "B"). The lease agreement provided that in return for \$462.47 per month beginning on the first day of April, 1985, the Jensen's were entitled to possession of the property in question for three years. (Addendum "A".) The responsibility for maintenance, utilities, taxes, insurance, losses, presently existing furnishings and fixtures, rental payments including late payments

¹The legal land description is as follows: PARCEL 1: Commencing 25.39 chains North and 7.63 chains West of the Southeast corner of the Southwest corner of Section 34, township 6 south, Range 2 East, Salt Lake Base and Meridian; thence South 102.8 feet; thence East 168.77 feet; thence 30x 20 ' west 38.74 feet; thence East 429 feet to the West line of the road; thence North 39x 35 ' West 90 feet along said road; thence West 534 feet to the place of beginning.

PARCEL 2: Commencing 25.39 chains North and 7.6 chains West and South 102.8 feet of the Southeast corner of the Southwest Quarter of Section 4, Township 6 South, Range 2 East, Salt Lake Base and Meridian; thence East 168.777 feet; thence south 30x 20 ' East 488.02 feet; thence West 430.6 feet; thence North 421.20 feet to the place of beginning.

Together with 1/2 share of the Lake bottom Irrigation Co., Water Stock.

were all openly addressed in the lease agreement.²

On the other hand, the Option Contract provided that in return for \$2,500, the Jensen's were given the exclusive right and privilege of purchasing the property in question for a period of six months. The Jensen's were required to make additional payments of \$2,500 in order to maintain this privilege. The price, evidence of title, closing adjustments, and possession requirements are all discussed per the written agreement. (Addendum "B".)

The Lease Agreement refers to the Option Contract in that it states that the lease period is three years unless it is terminated by the lessee's purchase of the premises under the Option Contract dated April 1, 1985. (Addendum "A".) The Option Contract acknowledges an existing lease agreement between the parties but does not express or imply any agreement that the Option Contract was dependant upon any consideration other than \$2,500 payment as stated in the Contract itself. (Addendum "B", paragraph 6.) The Lease Agreement could be terminated by the exercise of the Option but the Option was not subject to the performance or termination of the Lease. (Addendum "C" and Addendum "D", paragraph 8.)

The trial court found that the Jensen's had failed to make payments as provided in the Lease Agreement and therefore Petitioners were entitled to termination of the lease and the

²The Lease agreement and the Option Contract can be seen in their entirety in the Addenda "A" and "B".

receipt of all delinquent payments plus interest from May 12, 1987, to the present time. (Addendum "E", paragraphs 1, 2, and 3.) The Trial court also found that the Option Contract was still viable and that upon the Jensen's making all future required payments pursuant to the Option Contract (and their assumption of the loan from the Real Estate Contract dated June 30, 1978, between Neal as "Sellers" and Bess as "Buyers,") the Jensen's were entitled to possession of the property and Quit-Claim Deed from the Petitioner conveying all of their right, title, and interest in the subject property and the Jensen's. (Addendum "E", paragraph 8.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The question before this court is one of fact not law. The Lease and the Option Contract are distinct and separate agreements containing separate consideration and restrictions. The test to determine the independence of these contracts is whether the express terms of the option are independent of the covenants of the lease and whether the two contracts are supported by valid consideration. If so, then the option continues in existence notwithstanding the lease's termination. In compliance with this test a lease and an option can act independently of each other despite references to one another. Allowing the extinguishment of the Option Contract would create a great windfall to the Petitioner, and a greater injustice to the Jensen's pursuant to doctrines of reliance embodied in Restatement (Second) Of Contracts Sections 87(2) and 90. The

Jensen's were found to have failed to meet the contingencies of the lease and they have lost their rights accordingly; but in equity and good conscience they have upheld the bargain under the option and have reasonably relied on such. Consequently, the intent of the parties will not be frustrated if the Petitioner regains fair rental value of his property subject to the Jensen's legal option to purchase.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DECIDED THE HOLDER OF A LEASE AND OPTION TO REAL PROPERTY DOES NOT AS A MATTER OF LAW LOSE BOTH LEASE AND OPTION UPON THE DEFAULT OF THE LEASE.

The Lease and the Option Contract are distinct and separate agreements containing separate considerations and restrictions.

The Appellant has advocated the notion that these two separate agreements should be construed as a single contract. For justification, the Appellant has relied upon three Court cases which are all distinguishable from the present case. In Sacramento Baseball Club, Inc., v. Great Northern Baseball, Co., 73 Utah Advanced Reports 10 (1987), the Utah Supreme Court had to determine the enforceability of two simultaneously executed contracts. One was for the sale of a baseball franchise for \$100,000. The second was for consultation services to be provided by the seller for \$88,000. The Court determined that there was never any intention to provide consultation services and that the second contract was a sham. The actual selling price of the franchise was \$188,000 and the parties created the phony contract in order to enable the buyer and seller to manipulate

the tax treatment of the exchange. So when the court said "[a]n agreement may be a single contract even though it consists of several writings that the parties have never physically attached to each other," Id at 11, they were referring to a situation in which there are collateral documents that are unsupported by distinct consideration. That is not the case in the present case. As stated above, both contracts were independent and both were supported by their own consideration.

Similarly, Land Reclamation, Inc. v. Riverside Corp., 261 Or. 180, 184, 492 P.2d 263, 265 (1972) is cited as holding that the parties can use two written instruments, instead of one, to effectually carry on their agreement. In Land Reclamation a buyer and seller entered into a contract to convey land. The contract required that the buyer use the land for a sanitary landfill. The warranty deed which was subsequently executed contained no restrictions or conditions. The Oregon Court determined that the deed was only a vehicle for passing title to the buyer according to the terms of the Contract, and not a memorialization of the agreement. Here again, the second document which is being merged into the first is without separate consideration. The consideration tendered for the deed is one and the same as that declared in the contract. Therefore, the Court should treat the two documents as representing one agreement. This is not so in the present case because there were two separate agreements: one for a lease, the other for an option to buy and they each have separate and distinct consideration.

Completing his argument, the appellant cites Bledsoe v. Hill, 747 P.2d 10 (Colo. App. 1987) as holding that if one agreement is contained in more than one instrument, the documents must be construed together to determine the intent of the parties. This is a true statement of law but it is not decisive in this case for three reasons. First, there is not one agreement in the case at hand; there are two. Second, even if you construe the documents together, there is nothing in either of them which indicates that the intent of the parties was to make the contracts dependant upon each other. The stated exception is that the lease agreement would terminate if the option was exercised, but that would occur as a matter of law as the Jensen's possessory interest in the property would merge into their ownership interest. Finally, as stated in Bledsoe, "questions of intent of the parties to a written instrument implicate factual issues," Id at 12. Factual issues are best determined by the trier fact and in this case the trier of fact has already concluded that the intent of the parties was to make independent agreements.

By advocating the theory that these two separate agreements should be construed as one contract, the Appellant hopes to place the Jensen's in a situation similar to that of Russell v. Park City, Utah, Corp., 548 P.2d 880 (Utah 1976). In Russell, the Supreme Court decided a case in which a right of first refusal was contained in the same document as a lease contract. The Plaintiffs in Russell, terminated the lease agreement of the

Defendants due to Defendants failure to make timely rental payments. Defendants had made annual rental payments for the first three years. Late in the fourth year defendant and its sublessee, Park West, were in dispute as to how much money Park West actually owed Defendant. The defendant then advised Park West to make rental Payments directly to the plaintiff to offset their debts to defendant. Park West failed to make rental payments to Plaintiff as directed by defendant. Early in the fifth year plaintiffs sent a letter to defendant's stating that if rent was not paid within 45 days, they would terminate the lease. The defendants did not meet the deadline, but offered payment approximately two weeks late. Plaintiffs refused payment and the lease was terminated. Plaintiffs contended that the right of purchase was intended as an integral part of the total lease; and when the lease was breached the right to purchase also was lost. The defendant argued that the first right of refusal was an independent contract supported by separate consideration (\$2,000) and independent of the lease for the entire ten year term of the lease. The Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's decision to terminate the first right of refusal in Russell. The rule of law as stated by the Russell Court is: "if by the express terms of the option; it can be seen as independent of the other covenants of the lease, and is supported by a valid consideration; it can continue in existence notwithstanding the lease's termination." Russell at 891-92. Citing Prout v. Roby, 82 U. S. (15 Wall.) 471 (1872). The Russell Court did not apply

the general rule in favor of the lessee/optionee for three reasons: First, both agreements were contained in the same document and there was an ambiguity within that document which made the intent of the parties uncertain regarding the relationship between the agreements. Second, the trial court had admitted extraneous evidence to clarify the ambiguity and had determined that the intent was for the right of refusal to be an integral part of the lease. Third, the intent of the parties was a question of fact and the Supreme Court of Utah affirmed the trial court's decision as the trier of fact.

In the present case, there is no ambiguity in the contracts. The ambiguity in Russell involved a statement in the option portion of the contract which stated that "said right to purchase to remain in existence during the entire term of the lease." (emphasis added) Therefore, there was a legitimate question as to whether the option was intended to be dependant upon the existence of the lease. Here, there are two separate documents with independent consideration. The option terms are six month increments and are not based upon the term, or the existence, of the lease. The trier of fact has determined that the intent of the parties was to enter into two separate and independent agreements. According to the rule stated in Prout v. Roby as cited in Russell, the option may be permitted to continue in existence despite the termination of the lease.

According to the restatement (second) of contracts Section 87 (1981):

(1) An offer is binding as an option contract if it:

(a) is in writing and signed by the offeror, recites purported consideration for the making of the offer, and proposes an exchange of fair terms within a reasonable time . . .

(2) An offer which the offeror should reasonably expect to induce action or forbearance of a substantial character on the part of the offeree before acceptance and which does induce such action or forbearance is binding as an option contract to the extent necessary to avoid injustice.

Id.

The Option contract before the court is in harmony with all the requirements of Section 87(1) and Section 87(1)(a). In conjunction with Section 87(2), Comment e. states that the reliance must be "substantial as well as foreseeable". The Jensen's have done considerable work on the subject property in contemplation of exercising their option including: putting in a textured ceiling in the living and dining rooms, wallpapering the living dining and bedrooms, painting the living, dining and bedrooms, installing a rooftop swamp cooler and a refrigerator upstairs, carpeting the upstairs and downstairs bedrooms and living room, placing curtains in the living, dining and master bedrooms, placing blinds in the bedroom, replacing the main water line to the house, planting numerous large trees on the property, replacing a wall in the shower, replacing the septic tank, repairing the general plumbing and restringing the fence. Through the aforementioned improvements, and others, the Jensen's have developed equity in the property of approximately \$30,000 in the subject property which includes the six payments of \$2,500

each according to the Option Contract which were accepted and cashed by the Petitioners. Not only are these improvements and equity substantial, they were foreseeable by Petitioner. Allowing the extinguishment of the Option Contract would create a windfall to the Petitioner, and an extreme injustice to the Jensen's pursuant to doctrines of reliance embodied in Restatement (Second) Of Contracts Sections 87 (2) and 90 (1981).³

The trial court's decision to maintain the Option Contract conforms with the objective theory of contracts. This common law theory bases the assent to a contract not on the subjective intention of the party, but on what a reasonable person would have thought from the party's conduct. From this approach the Jensen's are well within the scope of a reasonable man standard to believe that the two agreements, each capable of standing alone, could be treated as such. The allowance of the option is not unconscionable because possession reverts back to the lessor subject to the Jensen's option to buy. This scenario is identical to that in Russell, when the court stated, "after the lease was terminated as delineated above, the plaintiffs were free to rent the property to Park West or anyone else, as the trial court correctly ruled." Id. The Jensen's have failed to meet the contingencies of the lease and they have lost their